2007

Chavez v. Utah : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

THIS APPEAL IS FROM THE FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS OF THE APPELLANTS PETITION FOR POST CONVICTION RELIEF. ON FEBRUARY, 26, 2007, JUDGE MICHAEL D. LYON SIGNED AN ENTRY OF JUDGEMENT DENYING THE APPELLANTS PETITION FOR POST CONVICTION RELIEF.

THIS AFFIRMED THE APPELLANTS UNCONSTITUTIONAL SENTENCE, NOT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PLEA AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PETITIONER AND THE ORIGINAL DEPUTY WEBER COUNTY ATTORNEY.

ALSO TRANSCRIPTS / RECORDS SHOW THAT JUDGE LYONS ON 1-31-07 AS WELL AS OTHER DOCUMENTS (FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS) ADMITS THE PETITIONER DID NOT HAVE HIS DUE PROCESS RIGHT TO ALLOCATION AFFORDED HIM.

THE APPELLANT FILED A NOTICE OF APPEAL PURSUANT TO RULES OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE RULE 42. AND THE FOUR OVER PROVISIONS OF UTAH CODE 78-29-3 THE APPELLATE COURT HAS JURISDICTION OF THIS CASE.

POINT I

WAS THE APPELLANT/PETITIONER DENIED HIS RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I SECTIONS 7 AND 12 OF THE UTAH CONSTITUTION, WHEN HIS ATTORNEY FAILED TO ACT IN THE BEST INTERESTS OF HIS CLIENT. FURTHER EXACERBATED BY HIS FAILURE TO INVESTIGATE THE CHARGES BEING BROUGHT AGAINST THE APPELLANT?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

STRICKLAND V. WASHINGTON 466 U.S. 668, 80 L.Ed. 2d 671 (1984) "TWO PRONGED TEST"

FIRST, THE DEFENDANT MUST SHOW THAT COUNSEL'S PERFORMANCE WAS DEFICIENT.

THIS REQUIRES SHOWING THAT COUNSEL MADE ERRORS SO EGBREGIOUS THAT COUNSEL WAS NOT AS THE COUNSEL GUARANTEED THE DEFENDANT BY THE 6TH AMENDMENT.

SECOND, THE DEFENDANT MUST SHOW THAT THE DEFICIENT PERFORMANCE PREJUDICED THE DEFENSE. THIS REQUIRES SHOWING THAT COUNSEL'S ERRORS WERE SO SERIOUS AS TO DEPRIVE THE DEFENDANT OF A FAIR TRIAL, A TRIAL WHOSE RESULT IS RELIABLE.

Id. AT 466 U.S. AT 687 80 L. Ed 2d AT 693

POINT II

WAS THE PLAINTIFF/PETITIONER'S GUILTY PLEA INDUCED UNDER FALSE PRETENSES?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A JUDGE MUST ADDRESS THE DEFENDANT PERSONALLY IN OPEN COURT TO INFORM THE DEFENDANT OF, AND DETERMINE THAT THE DEFENDANT UNDERSTANDS THE FOLLOWING:

- (1) THE RIGHT NOT TO GUILTY (2) RIGHT TO JURY TRIAL (3) RIGHT TO BE REPRESENTED BY COUNSEL (4) NATURE TO CHARGE TO WHICH DEFENDANT IS PLEADING (5) ANY MANDATORY/MINIMUM PENALTY (6) ANY MAXIMUM PENALTY

FEDERAL RULES OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE

RULE 11 (b) (1) RULE 11 (b) (2) RULE 11 (b) (3)

ALTHOUGH A JUDGE IS NOT BOUND BY A PLEA AGREEMENT IT MUST BE MADE "PERFECTLY CLEAR" TO THE DEFENDANT THAT THE JUDGE IS NOT BOUND BY IT. (UT. CT RULES VOL 4)

UTAH RULES OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE RULE 11 (c), (1), (2), (3), (4), (5), (6), (7), (8), (22)

POINT III

WAS THE APPELLANT DENIED DUE PROCESS RIGHTS WHEN THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO ALLOW ALLOCATION, THUS POTENTIALLY MITIGATING ANY SENTENCE.

STANDARD OF REVIEW:

UTAH RULE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 22(a) CODIFIES THE COMMON-LAW RIGHT OF ALLOCATION. STATE V. WANOSIK, 79 P.3d 937, 943 (UTAH 2003).

RULE 22 STATES: THAT BEFORE IMPOSING SENTENCE THE COURT SHALL AFFORD THE DEFENDANT "THE DEFENDANT AN OPPORTUNITY TO MAKE A STATEMENT AND TO PRESENT ANY INFORMATION IN MITIGATING OF PUNISHMENT OR TO SHOW ANY LEGAL CAUSE WHY SENTENCE SHOULD NOT BE IMPOSED."

POINT IV

WAS THE APPELLANT'S PLEA DEAL MADE KNOWINGLY AND FULLY INFORMED.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A JUDGE MUST ADDRESS THE DEFENDANT PERSONALLY IN OPEN COURT TO INFORM DEFENDANT OF AND TO DETERMINE THAT DEFENDANT UNDERSTANDS THE FOLLOWING: (1) THE RIGHT NOT TO PLEAD GUILTY (2) RIGHT TO JURY TRIAL (3) RIGHT TO BE REPRESENTED BY COUNSEL (4) NATURE TO CHARGE TO WHICH DEFENDANT IS PLEADING (5) ANY MANDATORY / MINIMUM PENALTY (6) ANY MAXIMUM PENALTY

FEDERAL RULES OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE RULE 11(b) (1) 11(b)(2) 11(b)(3)

ALTHOUGH A JUDGE IS NOT BOUND BY A PLEA AGREEMENT IT MUST BE MADE PERFECTLY CLEAR TO THE DEFENDANT THAT THE JUDGE IS NOT BOUND BY IT (UT. CR. RULES VOL 4)

UTAH RULES OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE RULE 11(e) (1), (2), (3), (4), (5), (6), (7), (8), (9), (27)

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, RULES

UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION

5TH AMENDMENT

NO PERSON SHALL BE HELD TO ANSWER FOR A CAPITAL OR OTHERWISE INFAMOUS CRIME UNLESS ON A PRESENTMENT OR INDICTMENT OF A GRAND JURY, EXCEPT IN CASES ARISING IN THE LAND OR NAVAL FORCES, OR IN THE MILITIA, WHEN IN ACTUAL SERVICE IN TIME OF WAR OR DANGER; NOR SHALL ANY PERSON BE SUBJECT FOR THE SAME OFFENSE TO BE TWICE PUT IN JEOPARDY OF LIFE OR LIMB; NOR SHALL BE COMPELLED IN ANY CRIMINAL CASE TO BE A WITNESS AGAINST HIMSELF; NOR BE DEPRIVED OF LIFE, LIBERTY, OR PROPERTY, WITHOUT DUE PROCESS OF LAW; NOR SHALL PRIVATE PROPERTY BE TAKEN FOR PUBLIC USE, WITHOUT JUST COMPENSATION

14TH AMENDMENT

SECTION 1

ALL PERSONS BORN OR NATURALIZED IN THE UNITED STATES AND SUBJECT TO THE JURISDICTION THEREOF ARE CITIZENS OF THE UNITED STATES AND OF THE STATE WHEREIN THEY RESIDE. NO STATE SHALL MAKE OR ENFORCE ANY LAW WHICH SHALL ABRIDGE THE PRIVILEGES IMMUNITIES OF CITIZENS OF THE UNITED STATES; NOR SHALL ANY STATE DEPRIVE ANY PERSON OF LIFE, OR LIBERTY, WITHOUT DUE PROCESS OF LAW; NOR DENY TO ANY PERSON WITHIN ITS JURISDICTION THE EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAWS

UTAH CONSTITUTION

ARTICLE I, SECTION 7

NO PERSON SHALL BE DEPRIVED OF LIFE LIBERTY OR PROPERTY, WITHOUT DUE PROCESS OF LAW.

STATEMENT OF CASE

ON OR ABOUT JULY 29ST 2003 POLICE FOUND ITEMS AT JOSEPH CHAVEZ HOME THAT BELONGED TO HIS NEIGHBOR (JAVIER LUNA). THE ITEMS WERE GIVEN BACK TO LUNA. NO CHARGES WERE FILED TIL A WEEK LATER. CHAVEZ WAS ASKED TO GIVE A WRITTEN STATEMENT AND WAS BOOKED ON CHARGES OF BURGLARY (FELONY 2^O) THEFT (FELONY 3^O) AND REC. STOLEN PROPERTY (FELONY 3^O)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

ON JULY 12 2004 CHAVEZ SIGNED A PLEA AGREEMENT.

ALL CHARGES BUT THE RECEIVING STOLEN PROPERTY (3rd FELONY) WERE DISMISSED.

ALSO, SENTENCING STIPULATIONS WERE MADE ON THE AGREEMENT AS FOLLOWS: GOOD TIME, CONCURRENT SENTENCING, WORK RELEASE AND JAIL IN LIEU OF PRISON.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- CHAVEZ CONTENDS THAT HE WAS NOT GIVEN THE EXACT PROVISIONS AS WAS LISTED IN THE PLEA AGREEMENT.
- ALSO; THAT HIS RIGHTS WERE NOT UPHOLD (DUE PROCESS)
- AND, THAT PROPER COURT RULES WERE NOT FOLLOWED

ARGUMENT

- CHAVEZ CONTENDS THAT HE WAS NOT GIVEN A JAIL SENTENCE BUT A PRISON SENTENCE STAYED TO A JAIL TERM WITH PROBATION.

~~██████████~~ THERE'S A DIFFERENCE BETWEEN A SUSPENDED PRISON SENTENCE AND A JAIL SENTENCE, CHAVEZ EXPECTING THE LATTER.

* NOTE (* SEE ATTACHED/ENCLOSED PG. 44 EVIDENTIARY HEARING) LINES 12 - 15

- CHAVEZ CONTENDS THAT HE WAS NOT MADE PERFECTLY CLEAR TO HIM (AS PER COURT RULES Vol 4) JUDGE WAS NOT BOUND BY PLEA AGREEMENT.

* NOTE: NEVER DURING COURT PROCEEDINGS DID PROSECUTION, DEFENSE ATTORNEY, OR JUDGE "TELL" CHAVEZ THAT JUDGE WAS NOT BOUND BY PLEA AGREEMENT IN "OPEN COURT"; THUS: AMOUNTING TO MAKING IT "PERFECTLY CLEAR" AS REQUIRED.

- JUDGE LYONS NEVER AFFORDED CHAVEZ HIS RIGHT TO ALLOCUTION WHICH MUST BE ADDRESSED / AFFORDED PRIOR TO SENTENCING. HAD CHAVEZ BEEN AFFORDED THIS "DUE PROCESS" RIGHT HE WOULD OF THEN BEEN ABLE TO TELL THE JUDGE THAT HE WANTED TO NO LONGER PLEAD GUILTY BUT EXERCISE HIS RIGHT TO JURY TRIAL, THIS BEING THE MOST DAMAGING ERROR IN THIS CASE.

* SEE ~~PAGES~~ PG 3 OF SENTENCING HEARING, LINES 11-12 WHERE JUDGE NEVER GAVE CHAVEZ ALLOCUTION ... FLOWED RIGHT TO SENTENCE

* SEE ALSO EVIDENTIARY TRANSCRIPT PAGE 6 LINES 14-18 WHERE JUDGE ADMITS TO NOT AFFORDING DUE PROCESS RIGHT OF ALLOCUTION!

- IN COURT - / COURT - 4/11
- CHAVEZ HAD A DIFFERENT PUBLIC DEFENDER AND PROSECUTOR THAN THE PARTIES THAT SIGNED PLEA AGREEMENT WHICH NOT ONLY CAUSED MISUNDERSTANDING AND CONFUSION, BUT BY CHAVEZ' COUNSEL NOT MAKING IT "PERFECTLY" CLEAR TO CHAVEZ THAT JUDGE WAS NOT BOUND BY PLEA AGREEMENT, AND ALSO NOT MAKING SURE CHAVEZ RIGHT OF ALLOCUTION TOOK PLACE AS WELL AS COUNSEL NOT TAKING RECESS BEFORE SENTENCING (MUST SEE VIDEO TO OBSERVE THIS CONFUSION) SO THAT PLEA AGREEMENT COULD BE REDESIGNED AS WELL AS POSSIBLY WITHDRAWING GUILTY PLEA - THUS: AMOUNTING TO INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

- CHAVEZ ASKS THE COURT OF APPEALS TO FOCUS DIRECTLY ON THE FACT THAT JUDGE LYONS ADMITS THAT HE DID NOT EXPRESSLY ASK CHAVEZ IF HE HAD ANYTHING TO SAY IN THE FORM OF ALLOCUTION. THIS IS THE JUDGE'S DUTY. THE COURTS MUST NOT ASSUME THAT CHAVEZ HAD NOTHING TO SAY.

- IF WE EXAMINE THE SENTENCING HEARING TRANSCRIPTS (P. 3 ATTACHED) WE CAN CLEARLY SEE ON LINES 11-12 WHERE JUDGE SPOKE OF CHAVEZ CRIMINAL HISTORY AND RECOMMENDATIONS AND WENT ON TO SENTENCE CHAVEZ WITHOUT THE DUE PROCESS RIGHT OF ALLOCUTION.

* THIS RIGHT IS JUST AS IT SOUNDS: A "PROCESS" IN THE COURT OF LAW WHICH IS "DUE" TO A CITIZEN OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA IN ANY COURT PROCEEDING(S)

- THERE WERE OTHER NUMEROUS COURT RULES MENTIONED IN THIS APPEAL THAT WERE NOT CLEARLY FOLLOWED / UPHOLD.
- CHAVEZ ASKS THE UTAH COURT OF APPEALS TO RECOGNIZE THE ABOVE MENTIONED RIGHTS VIOLATIONS, RULES NOT COMPLETELY AND/OR PROPERLY FOLLOWED, AND ALLOW CHAVEZ TO HAVE HIS DAY IN COURT WITH A TRIAL BY JURY OR SUSPEND REMAINDER OF HIS SENTENCE WHICH IS JANUARY 15 2008

1 Q (BY MR. CHAVEZ) Ms. -- I forget your last name.

2 THE COURT: Corp.

3 A. It's Corp.

4 Q. Corp. Could you please answer me a question? In your
5 opinion -- well, a legal -- a legal question. Is it jail --
6 is a jail sentence -- is a suspended prison sentence the same
7 as a jail sentence?

8 A. Well, it can be. The way you're stating it it's not
9 clearly because you didn't mention a suspended jail --
10 suspended prison sentence with jail time. Sometimes you can
11 suspend prison and not go to jail so...

12 Q. Can you understand where the average person on the
13 streets that's not familiar with law would think that they
14 could get a one-year jail term?

15 A. The average person on the streets? Yes, I could
16 understand why they would not be familiar.

17 MR. CHAVEZ: Okay. Thank you. I don't have
18 anything further.

19 MR. DELPORTO: I have no further questions.

20 THE COURT: Thank you, Ms. Corp.

21 THE WITNESS: And, your Honor, could I get that
22 letter back for my file?

23 THE COURT: Yes.

24 MR. CHAVEZ: Oh, I'm sorry. And can I get my order
25 to the sheriff copy, please?

* (NO ALLOCUTIONS)

page 31 3

1 wouldn't oppose work release.

2 **MR. GRAVIS:** The Court may want to review the plea
3 agreement. He says that's all in there. Mr. Laker obviously
4 drew it up, so I haven't seen it, but Mr. Laker's notes show
5 all these things in there.

6 **THE COURT:** It does provide for a concurrent
7 sentencing. Well, but for the recommendation of the State
8 this Court would send you to prison, Mr. Chavez. You have an
9 extensive history. You've been to prison before. You have
10 violated parole three times. It's with great reservation
11 that I'll go along with the recommendation.

12 It's the sentence of this Court that -- in Case No. 1031
13 that you be committed to the Utah State Prison for a period
14 of five -- from zero to five years and in case -- but that
15 prison sentence is stayed. You are placed on probation.

16 The Court further, in Case No. 3489, sentences you to
17 serve one year in jail on the class A misdemeanor conviction
18 and six months on the class B misdemeanor convictions. All
19 of these sentences shall run concurrently with each other.

20 The Court orders that you serve one year in the county
21 jail. You may have credit for the time that you have served,
22 no good time.

23 **MR. GRAVIS:** Work release, Your Honor?

24 **THE COURT:** No.

25 The Court orders also that you sign a standard probation

1 But I have no memory, Mr. Chavez, of ever granting both.
2 I think you get one or the other. And I think that my
3 initial impression was that you ought to go to prison, and --
4 but I acquiesced to the agreement between both the State and
5 yourself and went along with probation. But I will tell you
6 that my mind was you're going to just serve a straight jail
7 sentence.

8 In the end I made a concession, one that I didn't really
9 like. I gave you work release, but there is just no way this
10 Court was going to give you also good time on a work release.
11 You don't get one or the other -- you get one or the other in
12 my courtroom. And I don't know about -- I can't speak for
13 other judges. I just don't grant both.

14 The second point that I want to say, and I think I -- I
15 know I addressed this in my decision, is that -- and I regret
16 that I -- after all of the exchange that I did not expressly
17 ask you if you had anything else to say in the form of
18 allocution, but I sense that probably that got lost on me
19 because there had been a free exchange between us. You
20 had -- you had asked me for work release. You had also
21 protested that what was coming down at the time -- initially
22 at sentencing was not what had been agreed, and so it was my
23 impression that you had been free to say what you wanted to
24 say.

25 But be that as it may, it's the Court's judgment that