2007

Joseph Chavez v. State of Utah : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Point I.A: Petitioner's claim that he misunderstood the plea agreement because he believed he would receive a year in jail fails because he actually received precisely what he bargained for—a year in jail. Moreover, his claim that his attorney told him he would receive a “straight jail term” without probation was contradicted by testimony from his attorney.

Point I.B: The record demonstrates that petitioner's plea was knowing and voluntary. His claim that he did not understand that the trial court was not bound by sentencing recommendations is contradicted by the properly incorporated Plea Statement, which petitioner acknowledged reading and understanding, and which clearly states that the trial court was not bound by sentencing recommendations.

Point II: Petitioner's allocution rights were not violated because the trial court was fully informed and defendant engaged in a substantive colloquy with the judge during his sentencing hearing.

Point III: Petitioner has not met his burden to demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel. Petitioner's claims that his counsel was ineffective because he (1) did not move for a recess when the prosecutor "showed disfavor of the plea agreement"; (2) did not make sure petitioner was given his right to allocution; and (3) did not make sure petitioner understood that the trial judge was not bound by sentencing recommendations all fail because petitioner has not demonstrated deficient performance or prejudice.

ARGUMENT

I. PETITIONER'S PLEA WAS KNOWING AND VOLUNTARY BECAUSE THE RECORD DEMONSTRATES HE UNDERSTOOD THE TERMS OF THE PLEA AGREEMENT.

When a defendant pleads guilty, the trial court is charged with assuring that the plea is entered knowingly and voluntarily. *See* Utah R. Crim. P. 11(e). When a petitioner challenges his guilty plea on post-conviction, he must affirmatively show that his or her guilty plea was *in fact* not knowing and voluntary. *Salazar v. Warden, Utah State Prison*, 852 P.2d 988 (Utah 1993); *see Semon v. Turner*, 289 F. Supp. 803, 808 (D. Utah 1968) (to demonstrate that his plea was not knowing and voluntary, petitioner must do more than assert he subjectively misunderstood the consequences of his plea). Petitioner has not met this burden.

A. Petitioner's Sentence—A Year In Jail—Was Precisely What Petitioner Bargained for in the Plea Agreement.

Petitioner essentially claims that he was subjected to a "bait and switch." According to petitioner, he was promised a year in jail in exchange for his guilty plea and that he

instead was sent to prison. *See, e.g.*, Pet. Br. at 9. “There’s a difference between a suspended prison sentence and a jail sentence, Chavez expecting the latter.” *Id.*¹

This claim is frivolous. With the exception of “good time,” the trial court adopted all of the State’s sentencing recommendations and petitioner got precisely the sentence he bargained for. In exchange for his guilty plea to theft by receiving, providing false information to a police officer, and failing to have insurance on his vehicle, R. 55, 58, the State agreed to dismiss the remaining counts, including burglary, theft, and driving on a suspended license. R. 57. The State also agreed to recommend jail in lieu of prison, good time (if earned), work release, credit for time served and concurrent sentencing. *Id.*

Thus, the trial court adopted virtually all of the State’s recommendations, but it did so with great reluctance. “But for the recommendation of the State, this court would send you to prison, Mr. Chavez. You have an extensive history. You’ve been to prison before. You have violated parole three times. It’s with great reservation that I will go along with the recommendation.” R. 147:3.

The court’s hesitation proved to be entirely warranted when petitioner absconded from work release on September 29, 2004. R. 66-57. When petitioner was apprehended, the court revoked his probation and reinstated the zero-to-five year prison term. R. 69-70. Thus, although petitioner attempts to blame the court and/or his attorneys, the fact that he is in

¹ Although petitioner now claims that his misunderstanding concerning the jail term is the “main focus of this complaint,” R. 145:19, he did not mention this specific claim until the evidentiary hearing in this case on January 31, 2007. It was not among the claims raised in his petition. *See* R. 1-10.

prison instead of jail is entirely his own doing. If petitioner had simply held up his end of the plea bargain and not absconded from work release, he would have spent a year in jail and would now be a free man. Instead, petitioner violated probation is now experiencing the entirely predictable consequences.

Finally, petitioner's alleged misunderstanding is not supported by anything other than his testimony at the January 31, 2007 evidentiary hearing. *See, e.g.*, R. 145:8-20. Petitioner's attorney, Steven Laker, stated that petitioner never requested that he be given a "straight jail term"; nor did he ever indicate that he believed he would receive a straight jail sentence. R. 145:29. As Laker recalled: "I doubt seriously that he said that [he wanted a straight jail term] because if he did say that, I would have told him that—that they're requiring a plea to a third degree felony, and a one-year sentence is not on the table with regard to that. The best we can do is a suspended prison sentence and impose a jail—a one-year jail sentence, if we can do that." *Id.* The prosecutor, Weber County Deputy Attorney Sandra Corp, also testified that a straight jail term and no probation was never a possibility. R. 145:37.

In sum, petitioner's claim that he misunderstood the plea agreement because he believed he was to receive a "straight jail term" instead of a suspended prison term and probation conditioned on a year in jail is baseless.

B. The Record Demonstrates Petitioner Understood The Trial Court Was Not Bound By Sentencing Recommendations

Petitioner next contends that it was not made "perfectly clear" to him that the trial court was not bound by the plea agreement. Pet. Br. at 9. "Never during court proceedings

did prosecution, defense attorney, or judge ‘tell’ Chavez that judge was not bound by plea agreement in ‘open court,’ thus amounting to making it ‘perfectly clear’ as required.” *Id.* (emphasis by petitioner). This claim is contradicted by the record.

It is true that the trial court did not explicitly advise petitioner orally during the plea hearing that the court was not bound by the plea agreement. However, such an explicit admonishment is not required, especially where petitioner’s Plea Statement explicitly stated that the trial court was not bound by sentencing recommendations:

TRIAL JUDGE NOT BOUND. I know that any charge or sentencing concession or recommendation of probation or suspended sentence, including a reduction of the charges for sentencing, made or sought by either defense counsel or the prosecution attorney are not binding on the Judge. I also know that any opinions they express to me as to what they believe the Judge may do are not binding on the Judge.

R. 22.

Petitioner also acknowledged during the plea colloquy that he had read and understood the Plea Statement and the rights he was waiving by pleading guilty.

THE COURT: Is that your agreement, Mr. Chavez?

MR. CHAVEZ: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: . . . Mr. Chavez, you’ve had an opportunity to read this plea agreement, have you?

MR. CHAVEZ: Yes, your honor.

THE COURT: Did your lawyer answer your questions for you?

MR. CHAVEZ: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Did you understand the agreement?

MR. CHAVEZ: Yes, I did.

THE COURT: Do you acknowledge you're waiving the rights and protections that are defined in that document?

MR. CHAVEZ: I understand.

THE COURT: Do you feel pressured by anyone to enter a plea of guilty this morning?

MR. CHAVEZ: Not at all.

THE COURT: Is your mind clear? You understand what you're doing?

MR. CHAVEZ: Yes.

R. 146:2-3.

Additionally, during the evidentiary hearing on his post-conviction petition, petitioner acknowledged that he understood "recommendations" are not binding.

Q. Do you understand what the word *recommendation* means?

A. I do.

Q. What does it mean?

A. Something that's to be recommended.

Q. And does it mean that when someone recommends something to you that you have to do it?

A. No.

Q. It's optional. Right?

A. Correct.

R. 148:21.

Clearly, the court properly established that petitioner “read . . . understood, and acknowledge[d] all the information contained” in the Plea Statement. *Mora*, 2003 UT App 117 at ¶ 19. Petitioner understood that the “recommendations” by the State were just that—recommendations. Moreover, the court followed almost all of the State’s recommendations and petitioner received almost exactly what he wanted—a jail term and work release. Accordingly, his claim that his plea was entered unknowingly and involuntarily fails.

II. PETITIONER’S ALLOCUTION RIGHTS WERE NOT VIOLATED BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT WAS FULLY INFORMED DURING SENTENCING AND DEFENDANT ENGAGED IN A SUBSTANTIVE COLLOQUY WITH THE SENTENCING JUDGE.

Next, petitioner claims that he was denied his right to allocution because the trial court did not explicitly ask him if he had anything to say during sentencing. Petition at 9-10. This claim fails because the trial court was fully informed during sentencing, in part because petitioner engaged in a meaningful dialogue with the sentencing judge. Alternatively, error, if any, error was harmless.

The trial court acknowledged that it did not formally ask petitioner if he wished to exercise his right to allocution during his sentencing. R. 145:6. Nonetheless, the trial court correctly observed that the failure to formally invite allocution is not, in itself, a constitutional violation.

In general, a defendant is granted a right to address the court, known as the right to allocution, as “a means for the defendant to request understanding and mercy.” *State v.*

Maestes, 2002 UT 123, ¶ 46, 63 P.3d 621. The right of allocution is implemented by rule 22, Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure, which states:

Before imposing sentence the court shall afford the defendant an opportunity to make a statement and to present any information in mitigation of punishment, or to show any legal cause why sentence should not be imposed.

Utah R. Crim. P. 22(a). “Allocution is an ‘inseparable part’ of the right to appear and defend in person guaranteed by [art. I, § 12 of] the Utah Constitution.” *Maestes*, 2002 UT 123, ¶ 48 (citing *State v. Anderson*, 929 P.2d 1107, 1109-10 (Utah 1996)). In other words, it is “‘*part of the right to be present.*’” *Id.* (quoting *Anderson*, 929 P.2d at 1111) (emphasis added).

Here, the petitioner clearly exercised his right to speak during the sentencing hearing, even correcting the court—and the prosecutor—that the plea agreement called for concurrent sentencing. R. 147:3. The transcript of the sentencing hearing confirms that petitioner had an open and direct colloquy with the court. The court asked petitioner if he had a G.E.D. or high school diploma. Petitioner replied: “Sir, I have a G.E.D./high school diploma. I’ve been to Utah State University and Salt Lake Community College.” R. 147:4. Petitioner also protested when the court initially declined to allow work release. R. 147:3. Petitioner’s persistence was apparently effective given that the court relented and decided to allow work release. *See Minutes*, August 16, 2004. As the post-conviction court noted, “[T]here had been a free exchange between us. You had – you had asked me for work release. You had also protested that what was coming down at the time – initially at sentencing was not what had been agreed, and so it was my impression that you had been free to say what you wanted to say.” R. 145:6.

Petitioner claims that if he had been affirmatively offered the right to allocution, he would have attempted to withdraw his plea and demanded a jury trial. Pet. Br. at 9. This claim is completely unsupported by the record. As noted, petitioner showed an ability and willingness to speak up during the hearing, even correcting the judge and the prosecutor on the actual terms of the plea agreement. R. 147:3. If petitioner had wished to withdraw his plea, it is hard to understand why he would not have said so at that point.²

Moreover, the right to allocution has nothing to do with withdrawing a guilty plea. As noted, allocution is “a means for the defendant to request understanding and mercy,” *Maestes*, 2002 UT at ¶ 46, “or to show any legal cause why sentence should not be imposed.” Utah R. Crim. P. 22(a). Petitioner has never contended, either before the trial court or on appeal, that there was any legal cause why his sentence should not be impose. Moreover, petitioner’s input convinced the court to show “understanding and mercy,” at least to the extent that the court imposed work release, even though the judge had declined to do so prior to petitioner’s request.

Finally, any error from the petitioner’s not being formally invited to allocute was harmless. In essence, petitioner got everything he asked for in plea agreement. The only recommendation the trial court rejected was the request for “good time.” But petitioner has never challenged the trial court’s refusal to accept that recommendation; nor has he stated

² In any event, petitioner could not have withdrawn his plea at that point absent a showing that the plea was not knowingly and voluntarily entered. Utah Code Ann. § 77-13-6 (West 2004).

how he would have persuaded the trial court to grant “good time” if he had been formally asked to allocute. Moreover, the sentencing judge stated that it is his policy to never sentence a defendant to both “good time” and work release. Because the court granted work release, “[t]here is nothing Petitioner could have said before being sentenced, which would have persuaded the Court to give both work release and good time.” R. 86.

Accordingly, he has failed to demonstrate that his allocution right was violated. Alternatively, any error was harmless.

III. PETITIONER’S TRIAL COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE.

Petitioner complains that his attorney was ineffective because (1) did not move for a recess when the prosecutor “showed disfavor of the plea agreement”; (2) did not make sure petitioner was given his right to allocution; and (3) did not make sure petitioner understood that the trial judge was not bound by sentencing recommendations. *See, e.g.*, Petition at 7.

These claims fail because petitioner has not demonstrated that his counsel’s performance was constitutionally deficient or that petitioner suffered any prejudice. To demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel, petitioner must establish that (1) his attorney’s performance was deficient, and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced his defense. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). To satisfy the first prong of the *Strickland* test, petitioner must demonstrate that counsel’s “representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688. To establish that such serious errors occurred, a petitioner must identify counsel’s specific acts or omissions that “fall outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance.” *State v. Classon*, 935 P.2d

524, 532 (Utah App. 1997) (citations omitted and internal quotation marks omitted). “‘Proof of ineffective assistance of counsel cannot be a speculative matter but must be a demonstrable reality.’” *State v. Penman*, 964 P.2d 1157, 1162 (Utah App. 1998) (citing *Fernandez v. Cook*, 870 P.2d 870, 877 (Utah 1993)).

To establish deficient performance, a petitioner must “rebut the strong presumption that under the circumstances, the challenged action might be considered sound trial strategy.” *State v. Litherland*, 2000 UT 76, 19, 12 P.3d 92. To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance, appellant must demonstrate “‘that counsel’s actions were not conscious trial strategy,’” and “‘that there was a ‘lack of any conceivable tactical basis’ for counsel’s actions.” *State v. Winward*, 941 P.2d 627, 635 (Utah App. 1997) (quoting *State v. Ellifritz*, 835 P.2d 170, 174 (Utah. App.1992))

To meet his burden under the second, prejudice prong of the *Strickland* test, petitioner must show that he was actually harmed by any alleged deficiencies. To meet this criterion, petitioner must demonstrate that there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel’s errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694; *State v. Dunn*, 850 P.2d 1201, 1225 (Utah 1993). The courts have defined a reasonable probability as “a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694.

Petitioner has not met his burden. The claim concerning allocution fails because, as demonstrated in section II, above, petitioner’s allocution rights were not violated. Accordingly, his counsel cannot be faulted for not protecting his right to allocution. Similarly, petitioner’s claim that he did not understand the trial court was not bound by

sentencing recommendations is also without merit, *see* section I.B, above, and cannot be a basis for a claim of ineffective assistance.

Petitioner's claim that his counsel should have asked for a recess concerns the brief confusion during the sentencing hearing, when the prosecutor mistakenly asserted that the State had made no commitment to recommend concurrent sentences. At defendant's prompting, defense counsel pointed out that the State had agreed to such a recommendation and the trial court, after reviewing the Plea Statement, agreed. R. 147:3. Thus, there was no deficiency and no prejudice.

Thus, petitioner's claims of ineffective assistance of counsel fail.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should affirm the trial court's dismissal of the petition for post-conviction relief.